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The North Acropolis Building and Adjacent Areas
The North Acropolis is the northernmost spur of the Azoria hilltop, lying 50 m north of the North Buildings, and 20 m lower than the peak of the South Acropolis. It is a rounded knob-like hillock formed of yellow phyllite inter-bedded with breccia and dolomite, separated from the North Acropolis by a wide but steeply descending saddle. While the northern face of the North Acropolis is a precipitous cliff, the east and west slopes supported wide terraces that accommodated buildings. A series of six exploratory trenches were opened on the North Acropolis: E100-E600.
     The North Acropolis Building is an Archaic house consisting of three rooms (E100, E200, E300) arranged in a row on a level terrace flanking the east side of the summit of the North Acropolis (342-344 MASL). The building was severely disturbed by modern agricultural activity, and covered by a deep and hard-packed colluvial veneer of eroded yellow phyllite silt. The phyllite silt layer, in places mixed or fused with ancient wall collapse and roofing material, appears to have been the result of post-abandonment erosional processes or events; in E100, it covers the main stratum of wall collapse.
     Many of the walls of the North Acropolis Building were found to have been damaged or completely removed during phases of plowing and field clearing in recent times, with much of the material apparently reused in the agricultural terrace walls that are now visible above and below the building. Local land owners reported that the terrace was repeatedly hand-tilled for vine cultivation, a process that would have involved working the soil across the terrace, and then stopping to remove by hand any stone obstructions. Thus, what survives directly in the plough zone is a skeletal outline of rooms. The actual floor surfaces, however, evidently undisturbed by ploughing, were easily definable within the areas contained by the palimpsests of wall lines. Given the projected internal dimensions of rooms E200 and E300, however, the shallow baulks left in place along the east side of the building might be obscuring wall foundations. That said, the baulk between E200 and E300 was cut back to 0.45 m in width, exposing no trace of foundations.
     The walls and bedrock foundations in E100 are sufficiently preserved to allow us to reconstruct the architectural space—the room was set slightly to the west of the main north-south plough zone. What is visible of the architecture in E200 and E300 consists of modified bedrock foundations along the west side of the terrace. The rooms appear to have been arranged side by side against the rock face, modified to serve as wall foundations along the western flank. The presence of cut-bedrock foundations projecting eastward at the northern ends of both rooms indicates north-south measurements of about five to six m for E200, and some six m for E300. Balks were left between and along the east side of E200 and E300, in the approximate positions of the walls obviating certain determination of room sizes or communication between E200 and E300. The estimated room sizes approximate the dimensions of the hall (A400) and storeroom (A1700) of the Northeast Building.
     Exploratory trenches situated both west (E400) and south (E600) of the North Acropolis Building produced no architecture, suggesting the possibility that the house could have stood alone on the east terrace. That the west slope of the North Acropolis was occupied is indicated by a wall exposed in E500 just below the peak.
E100

Architecture and Features

E100 is a large trapezoidal room lying on the southern end of the terrace, sheltered from northwesterly winds by the peak of the North Acropolis. Its western end was set roughly three m further west than the rooms to the north (E200 and E300). It has an irregular shape, some 6.0 m long on the north-south axis, and 2.30 m wide on the west and 6.00 m wide on the east. The builders incorporated and modified the natural bedrock terrain for wall bedding and socles throughout. 

     The doorway into E100 is indicated by a large sideropetra threshold block at the southern end of the east wall of the room (E112). The threshold rests partially on a rise in the bedrock on the exterior, forming a two-course high step inside the room. Just inside the doorway there is a paved surface of schist and sideropetra slabs. The room’s floor is made of hard-packed phyllite clay, about 20 cm. lower than the contemporary ground level outside of the room. A section of shaved bedrock in the center of the room evidently served as a post support. The east wall (E112) is preserved only to two courses and sections in the middle and north end are no longer extant, suffering the same plough-zone damage as the walls in E200 and E300. On the south and west sides of the room, the schist bedrock has been extensively cut to form a bedding and socles for the walls (e.g., E104), while the line of the north wall is indicated by a high cut-bedrock socle and wall bedding. 
     Wall E104, which is preserved in a 2.0 m long segment in the southwest corner of the room, is constructed of large and rectangular worked blocks, evidently quarried from an adjacent outcrop of breccias limstone. The wide interstices of the blocks are filled with mud mortar and slabs of schist. The wall rests on a cut-bedrock socle that extends across the entire south edge of the room.    
     There is stone-lined hearth centered on the east side of the room, roughly rectangular in shape, and bordered by schist curb stones; at its eastern edge is a small rectangular pot stand or bin constructed of smaller up-right slabs of schist. There is also a small bench or work platform nearby, to the right of the entrance in the southeast corner of the room. It is constructed of two breccia limestone boulders placed side by side; a flat schist boulder is situated on the floor to the west of the platform. The south block of the platform is a worked rectangular stone forming a level working surface, about 30 cm high. The abutting stone on the north is an irregular triangular rock, leveled by a schist paver on the floor. One end of the stone juts up at an angle, about 15 cm above the level of the other block, creating a kind of cradle or stand. A piece of schist was embedded between the blocks to fill a crevice. It is possible that the platform was built to support a pot or quern that could be braced by the triangular stone. 
       The area east of wall E112 was exterior space—a courtyard running along the east side of the room and providing access into both the kitchen through the doorway on the west as well as into E200 on the north. A two-meter wide section of this space along the side of wall E112 was excavated (E103.2, E103.4-10; E111). In front of the doorway into E100 there is rise in the bedrock that was partially paved or leveled with small slabs and cobbles. Cut into the bedrock, in line with the north edge of the doorway, is a wide socket, perhaps for a wooden post. The socket is roughly in line with two schist pavers spaced along the east side of wall E112—about 0.4-0.5 m from the wall face. These might have held uprights to support a narrow porch or overhang in front of the room. At the north end of the courtyard, a large block of limestone, projecting beyond the northeast corner of E100, is possibly a doorjamb indicating the position of the doorway into E200.
Stratigraphy

Slope wash (E101) and colluvial debris (E106) covered most of the area of the room. Colluvial debris was deepest in the west where dense yellow phyllite silt, embedded with fragments of schist, had collected, evidently the result of continuously eroding bedrock. This hardened silt layer was most easily distinguishable in the west, but gradually thinned out to fuse with the wall collapse across the central and eastern areas of the room. A definable stratum of tumble (E107)—wall stones mixed with phyllite silt—was most easily distinguishable in the west side of the room where the debris was protected from the plough zone. In the eastern areas of the room, the wall collapse (E103) blended with roofing clay (E108-E109). Burned clay, ashy sediments, and wood and plant charcoal were apparent throughout layers of wall collapse (E103, E107), roofing material (E108-E109), and occupation debris (E110). The clay floor surface was extensively burned, with patches of dark gray (ash from burned wood) and red giving the floor a mottled appearance. The cut-bedrock post support was completely burned, discolored balck and red.
     Pieces of wood were also recovered directly from the floor surface. Olive wood, which is overwhelmingly represented in samples from roofing material and occupation debris—there are minor amounts of prickly oak and leguminosae—probably represents remnants of the roof superstructure.
     Artifacts, animal bones and plant remains were widely distributed across the floor surface, with concentrations of material in the center of the room, against the bedrock on the north, and along the west side of wall E112. While most occupation debris was recovered directly from the floor surface in locus E110, cultural material did protrude through layers of roofing clay (E108 and E109) and wall collapse (E103). The artifact assemblage consisted of a wide range of ceramic vessels, stone and metal tools, and other objects. 

     An unusual deposit is located immediately east of the hearth, retained by wall E112 and the work platform to the southeast. It consisted of a 10-20 cm deep ash and charcoal layer that seems to form a discrete dump of burned plant and animal remains. The deposit is sealed by roofing material, wall collapse, and several pithos fragments. While there were identifiable pig, cow, hare, and marine fauna, most of the animal bones in the deposit belong to sheep and goat—including both cranial and foot fragments as well as food debris such as meaty upper limb elements. What is interesting about the dump is that a significant portion of the bone is burned, indicating the deliberate burning of food and butchering debris, rather than routine cooking or exposure to fire from the room’s destruction. Both the concentration of bone and intensity of burning distinguish this deposit from material found scattered elsewhere across the floor of the room. The adjacent hearth was found to have been thoroughly cleaned before the destruction of the room, a strong indication that the dump of burned debris represents material swept out of the hearth—that is, butchering as well as food debris intentionally burned in the hearth and then collected and deposited beside it shortly before the room’s destruction. The unusual and clearly intentional burning of animal bones are probably the remains of a hearth sacrifice, perhaps related to the use of the female terracotta votive plaque found on the floor nearby.
     Under the topsoil and slope wash debris, deposition along the east side of wall E112 consisted of a mixture of wall collapse and extremely compacted phyllite silts, possibly eroded roofing clay displaced from the area along wall E112 (E103.2, E103.4-10). There were some indications of burning and occupation debris in this stratum, but it most likely represents material spilling out from the interior of the adjacent room. The ground surface in the southern area, in front of the doorway into E100, is a rise in the bedrock that is higher than the surface to the north. Excavation in front of the doorway (E103.8) exposed a paved or cobbled surface and occupation debris, including a concentration of animal bones (E103.6-E103.8) that may represent a waste pit or dump immediately north of the doorway into E100. Locus E111 is the layer of eroded occupation debris, a loose gravelly water-worn stratum lying directly on the ground surface across the outside of the building.
Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Pottery
Objects

Objects from the floor, or directly above the floor were an iron arrowhead (05-1131); a bronze cheese grater (05-1132); two iron spikes (05-1155; 05-1245); a blade of an iron hoe (05-1164); three loom weights (05-1008; 05-1209; 05-1210); four spindle whorls (05-1119; 05-1141; 05-1147; 05-1169); a spiny oyster shell scoop (05-1316); and a terracotta votive plaque (05-1311). The plaque was found next to the quern (05-1285) in the northwest area of the room.
     Stone tools were found widely distributed among the occupation debris. A large saddle quern (09-1002) was found upside down in the southwest corner of the room next to a small hand tool (05-1255) and a whetstone (10-1001). Three schist slabs lying next to the quern were probably either pot stands or work surfaces. In the northwest corner of the room was another tool kit: a small flat quern (05-1285), a small hand tool (05-1224), a whetstone (05-1227), pumice cobble (05-1217), and a small curved slab of schist evidently worked smooth on the faces and at both ends (05-1226). Not too far from the querns were a small cobble with pecked ends and an abraded face (05-1221), a pumice cobble (05-1162), and a flat disc-shaped stone with a pecked and abraded circumference (05-1112); two other pumice cobbles were found nearby (05-1179; 05-1202) in the northwest corner of room near the north wall.
     Against the east wall of E100 there was small flat oval quern (05-1272)—a thin slab of quartzite about 30 cm long and 13 cm wide—and near it along the wall face to the north, a quartz pebble with an abraded facet and pecked ends and margins (05-1125). The patterns of use of this tool suggest both crushing (pounding) as well as light grinding in palindromic and circular motions on the querns. Near these tools on the east side of the room, northeast of the hearth, is a shallow mortar-quern fashioned out of a block of granodiorite (05-1197). It has a pecked top surface with a sharply concave center; abrasion polish is concentrated in the center of the depression, which is sufficiently shallow to have been used effectively with any of the small hand tools from the room. Near the granodiorite mortar on the east is a small oval quartzite cobble (05-1194) with pecked and abraded ends and an abraded face.  
     Six pumice cobbles were found in the east side of the room near the small flat quern (05-1272) and mortar quern (05-1197) east and northeast of the hearth: 05-1163; 05-1165; 05-1166; 05-1167; 05-1177; 05-1178. Two more were recovered from the southeast corner of the room near the work platform ((05-1201; 05-1203). Most of the pumice from the room consists of water-rounded cobbles or fragments, some with little or no obvious evidence of use. Some examples have abraded facets or edges and clear knife scars (05-1162; 05-1163; 05-1203); others have knife scars (05-1166; 05-1167; 05-1201; 05-1217); one piece from the base of the north wall in the northwest area of the room has one wide even abraded facet (05-1202). 

     A large breccia cobble weight (05-1174), perhaps a counterweight, was recovered near the hearth, and a schist lid fragment (05-1017), though found outside the room near the east wall, it probably belongs to one of the jars or small pithoi. A cobble handstone fragment (05-1290), indeed the only large handstone appropriate for use with the saddle quern, was found on the ground surface outside the building.
E100 Object Catalogue
Metal
05-1131 (E0109.05) Iron arrowhead fragment. Max. L. 2.5; max. W. 0.9; Wt. 2 g. Three or four barbs. Tang with square section. ISS #1

05-1132 (E0110.07) Bronze grater fragments. Max. p.L. 15.0; max. p.W. 9.0; max. p.Th. 0.5; Wt. 120 g. Two preserved edges. The long side is bent and pierced with a series of holes, three of which have nails or rivets preserved. Perforations for grating surface appear to have been made with a square punch. 

05-1145 (E0110.07) Iron slag; 5 fragments. Max. L. 5.3; max. W. 3.3; Wt. 51 g. 

05-1155 (E0110.22) Iron nail/spike; 4 fragments. Max. p. L. 2.5; max. p.W. 1.4; Wt. 13 g.

Shank fragments; square in section. Dimensions are of the largest piece.

05-1164 (E0110.19) Iron hoe blade. Max. L. 18.7; max. W. 21.0; max. Th. 1.4; diam. of hole 2.5; W. of socket 5.6; diam. rivets 1.0-1.3; Wt. 950 g. Square blade; socket attachment has curved Y-shaped brace across the upper back of blade. Rivets (visible in X-ray) are at each end center of the brace. (05-1118 [E0110.01] non-joining fragments of the iron hoe. Wt. 54 g.

05-1245 (E0110.56) Iron nail/spike fragment. Max. p.L. 3.3; max. W. 1.1; Wt. 5 g. Shank rectangular in section. 

Terracotta

05-1008 (E0102.02) Loom weight fragment; half. Max. p.W. 2.3; max. Th. 3.7; min. Th. 1.2; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 35 g. Pyramidal loom weight. Dark reddish-brown clay (2.5YR 4/6) with dark red phyllite inclusions. Beveled, short and squat, and moderately tapered; with a pointed to rounded top. 

05-1064 (E0101.15) Loom weight fragment; three quarters. Max. W. 3.4; max. Th. 3.3; max. p.H. 5.0; Wt. 48 g. Pyramidal loom weight. Fine pinkish-buff clay (5YR 6/6) with biotite inclusions. Traces of black slip. Angular, medium height, and moderately tapered. Top broken at level of suspension hole.

05-1119 (E0110.01) Spindle whorl fragment; three quarters. Max. Th. 1.0; max. diam. 2.6; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 5 g. Discoidal spindle whorl. Fine buff clay (10YR 7/6) with phyllite and quartz inclusions. Pink slip. Most of one face broken. 

05-1141 (E0110.10) Spindle whorl fragment; half. Max. H. 0.8; max. diam. 2.6; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 4 g. Globular spindle whorl. Fine pinkish-buff clay (7.5YR 7/4) with quartz inclusions. Traces of black slip. Very flattened around hole; top half preserved.

05-1147 (E0110.13) Spindle whorl. Max. H. 1.6; max. Diam. 2.6; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 8 g. Biconical spindle whorl. Medium-coarse brown clay (2.5YR 6/8) with phyllite and quartz inclusions. Traces of dark slip. 

05-1169 (E0110.24) Spindle whorl. Max. H. 2.0; max. Diam. 2.6; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 10 g. Biconical spindle whorl. Fine pinkish-buff clay (5YR 7/6). Traces of black slip. 

05-1209 (E0110.37) Loom weight. Max. W. 4.4; max. Th. 4.4; max. H. 5.7; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 88 g. Pyramidal loom weight. Coarse pinkish-buff clay (5YR 6/6) with phyllite and quartz inclusions. Traces of dark slip. Beveled, medium height and very squat, and sharply tapered,  with a rounded to squared-off top. 

05-1210 (E0110.37) Loom weight. Max. W. 3.4; max. Th. 2.8; max. H. 5.1; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 42 g. Pyramidal loom weight. Pink clay (5YR 6/6) with dense tiny phyllite; quartz and calcite inclusions. Slightly beveled, short, and moderately tapered, with a rounded top. 

05-1311 (E0110.45) Anthropomorphic plaque fragment. Max. W. 5.0; max. Th. 2.2; max. p.H. 5.6; Wt. 37 g. Fine tan to buff clay (7.5YR 7/4) with very sparse dark phyllite inclusions. Broken at the bust line. Back has concave depression, having been pressed into a mould. Female with modeled ears; eyes; brow ridge; nose; mouth; and chin. Articulated braids. Details of the garment preserved; paint seems confined to dark slip on the hair. Incision is used to detail the eyes. Wears a peplos with cape. 

Bone and Shell

05-1316 (E0110.32) Shell scoop; 6 fragments; almost complete. Max. L. 9.38; max. W. 14.77; Wt. 65 g. Spondylus gaedoropus (Spiny oyster). 

07-1054 (E0110.14) Modified bone; 5 fragments.

07-1096 (E0110.03) Modified bone fragment.
Stone

05-1004 (E0101.05) Cobble fragment. Max. L. 7.0; max. p. W. 5.2; max. Th. 2.2; Th. waist 0.2; Wt. 115 g. Marble. Differentially weathered. One abraded end. Blitzer Type 16A. 

05-1005 (E0102.02) Pebble. Max. L. 3.1; max. W. 3.8; Wt. 61 g. Quartzite. Spherical. Pecked and abraded all over. Encrusted on three quarters of surface. Blitzer type 4?

05-1011 (E0103.01) Cobble. Max. L. 7.3; max. W. 6.1; max. Th. 5.6; Wt. 310 g. Marble. Pecked all over. Possible abraded facets. Blitzer Type 4. 

05-1017 (E0103.08) Lid fragment; less than half. Max. L. 23.4; max. p.W. 9.8; max. Th. 2.4; Wt. 750 g. Schist. Fragment of a thin schist lid; roughly worked into a circle. 

05-1029 (E0103.08) Cobble fragment. Max. p.L. 10.3; max. p.W. 4.8; max. p.Th. 1.5; Wt. 105 g. Schist. Worked surface.  Quern fragment.

05-1112 (E0109.05) Pebble. Max. L. 5.9; max. W. 6.3; max. Th. 2.5; Wt. 130 g. Marble. Pecked circumference. Abraded face. Blitzer type 2. 

05-1125 (E0110.01) Pebble. Max. L. 6.3; max. W. 4.3; max. Th. 4.7; Wt. 130 g. Quartz. Pecked and abraded margins and ends; abraded facets. Blitzer type 3?  

05-1149 (E0110.10) Pebble fragment. Max. p.L. 4.1; max. p.W. 2.5; max. p.Th. 3.3; Wt. 40 g. Quartz. Blitzer Type 1? 

05-1162 (E0110.17) Cobble; 4 fragments. Max. p.L. 11.1; max. p.W. 9.5; max. p.Th. 6.2; Wt. 140 g. Pumice. Three abraded facets. Four deep grooves. Dimensions are of the largest piece.

05-1163 (E0110.22) Cobble; 5 fragments. Wt. 130 g. Pumice. One abraded facet. Two deep grooves. 

05-1165 (E0110.25) Cobble; 5 fragments. Max. p.L. 5.8; max. p.W. 5.6; Wt. 37 g. Pumice. Five fragments, one of which has possible knife scars. Dimensions are of the largest piece.

05-1166 (E0110.25) Cobble fragment. Max. L. 7.5; max. W. 6.9; max. Th. 6.3; Wt. 56 g. Pumice. No obvious signs of use. 

05-1167 (E0110.25) Cobble. Max. L. 8.2; max. W. 6.1; max. Th. 5.0; Wt. 78 g. Pumice. Entire surface is smoothed and rounded. Two abraded facets. 

05-1174 (E0110.25) Perforated cobble. Max. L. 12.0; max. W. 12.7; max. Th. 8.8; diam. of hole 1.7; Wt. 1350 g. Breccia. Natural perforation. Blitzer Type 12A. 

05-1177 (E0110.32) Cobble. Max. L. 6.7; max. W. 6.1; max. Th. 3.2; Wt. 29 g. Pumice. No visible signs of wear or use; one smooth end. 

05-1178 (E0110.32) Cobble. Max. L. 8.2; max. W. 6.7; max. Th. 5.2; Wt. 73 g. Pumice. Rounded cobble. Two abraded facets.

05-1179 (E0110.30) Pebble; 3 fragments. Wt. 14 g. Pumice. Three non-joining fragments with knife scars and abraded facets (ISS #1)

05-1194 (E0110.32) Cobble. Max. L. 8.2; max. W. 6.4; max. Th. 3.7; Wt. 310 g. Quartzite. Oval. Pecked circumference. Pecking on both ends. One abraded facet. Hole drilled on the end of one side. Blitzer Type 1. 

05-1197 (E0110.32) Mortar quern. Max. L. 32.0; max. W. 20.0; max. H. 11.0; Wt. 13050 g. Granodiorite. Rectangular. Worked and slightly concave bottom. Roughly worked edges. Pecked margins. Pecked and abraded top surface. Concave long and short sections. Residue sample 2924.

05-1201 (E0110.37) Cobble. Max. L. 9.5; max. W. 7.5; max. Th. 6.3; Wt. 140 g. Pumice. Two abraded facets. 

05-1202 (E0110.37) Cobble. Max. L. 9.0; max. W. 6.3; max. Th. 4.3; Wt. 70 g. Pumice. One sharply abraded and two other abraded facets. 

05-1203 (E0110.37) Cobble. Max. L. 6.6; max. W. 4.6; max. Th. 3.3; Wt. 26 g. Pumice. Abraded surfaces. Knife scar. 

05-1217 (E0110.56) Cobble. Max. L. 10.1; max. W. 9.3; max. Th. 6.4; Wt. 115 g. Pumice. Irregular rounded cobble. Smoothed or abraded surfaces.

05-1221 (E0110.37) Cobble. Max. L. 7.8; max. W. 5.4; max. Th. 3.3; Wt. 175 g. Marble. Pecked all over. One broken end. Surface obscured by calcium carbonate residue. Blitzer Type 4.

05-1224 (E0110.56) Cobble. Max. L. 8.8; max. W. 8.4; max. Th. 4.2; Wt. 750 g. Marble. Pecked circumference. Abraded faces. Blitzer type 2. 

05-1226 (E0110.56) Schist slab. Max. L. 15.7; max. W. 11.3; max. Th. 3.3; Wt. 1050 g. Schist. Worked on both faces to create a concavity on one plane; worked edges. Possible wedge or drain. 

05-1227 (E0110.56) Whetstone. Max. L. 19.9; max. W. 11.3; max. Th. 4.8; Wt. 1950 g. Quartzite. Worked rectangular shape. Rough flattened bottom; abraded top surface with traces of corroded iron residue. Blitzer Type 5. 

05-1255 (E0110.56) Cobble. Max. L. 9.0; max. W. 7.8; max. Th. 6.5; Wt. 675 g. Marble. Globular. Pecked surface. Blitzer Type 4. 

05-1272 (E0110.56) Flat quern. Max. L. 30.0; max. W. 13.9; max. Th. 2.5; Wt. 1800 g. Quartzite. Irregular oblong oval. Worked bottom and edges. Bottom worked roughly flat. Pecked and abraded flat top surface; slight concavity on long axis. Residue sample 2923. Blitzer Type 17.

05-1285 (E0110.56) Quern. Max. L. 30.0; max. W. 25.0; max. H. 9.0; Wt. 10400 g. Quartzite. Roughly worked and slightly convex bottom. Worked edges. Pecked and hammered margins. Pecked top surface; abraded smooth at center; slight concavity on long axis. Residue sample 2925. Blitzer Type 17. 

05-1290 (E0111.04) Cobble handstone fragment. Max. p.L. 11.5; max. p.W. 8.6; max. p.Th. 6.3; Wt. 800 g. Marble. Elongated oval; pecked end and pecked and abraded facets. One facet heavily abraded to a polish. Blitzer Type 7. 

09-1002 (E0110 southwest corner) Saddle Quern. Max L. 50; max W. 34; H.16-20.  Quartzite. Hammared edges, margins, and bottom. Pecked and abraded top surface. Deep concave profile on the long axis of the top surface. Rounded on the wide end of the bottom, flattening toward the narrow end.
10-1001 (E110 southwest corner) Whetstone. Max L. 21; max W. 15; max H. 3.5; Wt. 2650 g. Schist. Roughly rectangular; worked margins. Top surface is abraded smooth on outer edges; central area has several sets of parallel and overlapping knife scars; some grooves run the length of the surface. Traces of iron residue on the outer edge.
E200
Architecture and Features

Access to E200 was through a doorway on the northern edge of the courtyard where a single worked bedrock door jamb survives projecting west of E112, along the line of the north wall of E100. There is no indication, however, of an eastern doorjamb or a surviving cross wall. As in E100, in E200, the bedrock has been cut back on the west, forming the lower wall face or a high socle. The northwest and southwest corners of the room are indicated by bedrock wall beddings. From the doorjamb in the south to the line of the bedrock socle in the north, the distance is roughly 6.0 m. The room’s width is harder to determine because a baulk was left along the east side of the trench where we anticipate the likely location of the east wall. Given the position of the doorjamb in the south wall, however, we can estimate a width of about 5 meters for the room. A single rectangular schist paver in the middle of the room, 2.0 m from the west wall, is a post support, while two other stone slabs against west and south walls are probably pot stands.  The floor is made of hard-packed yellow phyllite clay in the central and southern areas of the room, and cut-schist surface in the northwest corner. 
Stratigraphy

The deposition along the terrace of E200-E300 was relatively shallow as compared to E100. The topsoil and colluvial debris (E201.1) blended with the roofing material (E201.2) and very few wall stones were found. The absence of a distinguishable layer of wall-collapse is surely the result of modern plouging and field cleaning along the terrace. Burned sediments and cultural material, the remains of both roofing clay and habitation debris, were visible under the topsoil. Pottery scatters and other occupation debris (E202 and E220), lying directly on the floor surface, were best preserved on the middle and west sides of the room. The matrix consisted of gray and yellow phyllite silt, probably remnants of roofing material, as well as patches of burned clay and flecks of charcoal. Along the eastern side of the trench both the occupation debris and the floor surface are eroded. There were traces of roofing clay, sherds and bones, and the matrix (E202.5) consisted of a gravelly dark brown silt layer, with some large stones.

Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Pottery
Objects
The objects from the floor of the room consist of a spindle whorl (05-1003), a bone bead (07-1053); an iron knife blade (05-1216), a whetstone (05-1009), and two pebble implements. One tool (05-1013) is a burnisher, evidently used by scraping across a relatively soft surface. The other (05-1014) is a fragment (the tip and working edge) of a small elongated implement with a notched and abraded end. While edge of the tool could have been used for cutting or incising, the stone is very soft and would hardly make an effective blade. The tip is clearly abraded and has a series of microscopic incised grooves or use marks running across the edge. 
E200 Object Catalogue

Metal

05-1216 (E0220.05) Iron knife blade (4 fragments). Max. p.L. 6.5; max. p.W. 2.6; max. p.Th. 0.6; Wt. 30 g. Flattened rectangular section; tapered edge. 

Terracotta

05-1003 (E0201.02) Spindle whorl. Max. H. 1.6; max. diam. 2.5; diam. of hole 0.5; Wt. 8 g. Biconical. Fine pinkish-buff clay (7.5YR 7/4); traces of black slip. 

05-1020 (E0201.01) Pyramidal loom weight fragment. Max. W. 3.4; max. Th. 3.6; max. p.H; 5.2; Wt. 65 g. Pinkish-gray clay (5YR 5/6); phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Beveled and moderately tapered. Top broken. 

Bone

07-1053 (E0202.05) Bead. Modified bone.
Stone

05-1009 (E0202.06) Whetstone. Max. L.19.3; max. W. 11.8; max. Th. 4.3; Wt. 1690 g. Quartzite. Three worked edges; abraded top, bottom and one side. Top surface has knife scars and corroded iron residue.
05-1013 (E0201.02) Pebble. Max. L. 5.4; max. W. 2.9; max. Th. 1.4; Wt. 29 g. Marble. Irregular oblong water-worn pebble. Abraded margins and possible abraded facets; one edge has a series of striations suggesting a regular rubbing or scraping along and perpendicular to the margin.
05-1014 (E0201.02) Pebble fragment. Max. p.L. 2.3; max. W. 1.6; max. p.Th. 0.7; Wt. 5 g. Soft (Mohs c. 2-3) fine grained gray limestone. Tapered margin, smoothed surfaces. Percussion flaked and notched end. 

E300
Architecture and Features

There are no surviving built features in E300. The baulk left between E200 and E300 does not allow us to locate the position of the doorway between the rooms. The shape of E300 is however defined by a cut-bedrock ledge (a socle) along the entire west side of the room, forming a discernible right angle in the northwest corner. The corner indicates the likely end of the west wall and the direction of the room’s returning north wall. The interior length of E300 from the approximate position of the bedrock socle forming the division between E200 and E300, and the northwest corner, is a little over six m. The room’s width is not certain, given the presence of the baulk along the east, but the floor surface and sherd scatters were traced for a distance of over four m., suggesting a likely width of about 5 meters, as in E200.
Stratigraphy
As in E200 the surviving deposition in E300 was shallow and largely devoid of wall tumble, no doubt because of ploughing on the terrace. Some large wall stones were found however, on the floor surface in the west half of the room. The matrix of the topsoil is a loose, gravelly, and clearly weathered matrix of red-brown sediment (E301). Immediately bellow this erosive surface layer there was a stratum of loosely consolidated roofing material and habitation debris (E302) lying directly on a phyllite clay and bedrock surfaces. The bedrock rises markedly in the northwest of the room, where the bare rock constituted the floor surface. The clay floor across the middle and southern parts of the room is made of yellow phyllite burned in patches to shades of red with embedded ash and charcoal debris. The evidence of burning is most noticeable in the center and west parts of the room, where the matrix of the occupation debris was both best preserved and contained black and gray ashy sediments. While a pithos base was recovered near the west wall in the southwest corner of the room, and a pithos stand was found in the northwest corner, the distribution of the broken pithoi suggests concentrations in center and north parts of the room.
Faunal Remains

Plant Remains

Pottery
Objects
The objects found directly on the floor of the room were few, probably representing either items stored in the room, or post de facto deposition: a terracotta spindle whorl fragment (05-1018), a very large pyramidal terracotta weight (05-1092), and two small stone tools (05-1019, 05-1030). The large terracotta weight is a coarse heavy variety that we normally associate with Early Iron Age contexts, though examples have been found in Archaic levels of houses, such as in A2100 (03-1184). The two stone tools (types 3 and 4) are common components of food processing kits from kitchens.  
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Metal

05-1021 (E0301.06) Iron sheet (12 fragments). Max. p.L. 3.1; max. p.W. 3.3; max. p.Th. 0.4; Wt. 9 g. Extremely corroded and flaky. 

Terracotta

05-1018 (E0302.14) Spindle whorl fragment. Max. H. 2.1, max. diam. 2.8; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 14 g. Spherical. Dark brown clay (10YR 4/1) fired dark gray core with large phyllites and quartz inclusions. Three sets of three incised radial lines. 

05-1092 (E0302.07) Pyramidal weight. Max H. 18; max. W. 12.8;  diam. of hole 1.5; Wt. 1850 g. Large pyramidal weight. Coarse reddish-brown clay (5YR 5/8) with large gray schist, mudstone, and quartz inclusions, and chaff voids. Round hole centered near base. 

Stone

05-1019 (E0302.13) Cobble. Max. L. 8.9; max. W. 8.0; max. Th. 5.2. Marble. Pecked and battered all over with worked depression on one face. Blitzer Type 4. 

05-1030 (E0302.18) Pebble. Max. L. 7.1, max. W. 4.7, max. Th. 2.8, Wt. 140 g. Basalt. Water-worn oval pebble. Two abraded and pecked ends. One margin partially abraded and broken. One facet has numerous visible scratches. Blitzer Type 3. 

E400
A test trench (5.0 m x 4.0 m x 0.67 m deep) was excavated on the saddle of the North Acropolis immediately above and west of E100, in order to explore areas immediately adjacent to the North Acropolis building (346.18 MASL). The upper stratum (E401) consisted of loose and gravely slope wash and ploughed top soil with some pottery but very little bone or other cultural material. The matrix of the lower levels of the sondage (E402 and E403) was composed of yellow phyllite silt evidently eroding from the adjacent bedrock. While some pottery was recovered in E402, given the lack of features and the paucity and weathered condition of the sherd material, it was decided to section the trench, with E403 being the east half. There was not cultural material found in E403. The pottery from the uppermost levels of the sondage included a wide range of dates from LM IIIC to Archaic and Hellenistic, evidence of the early use of the North Acropolis and perhaps the northern extent of the Early Iron Age settlement.
07-1047 (E0410.03) Modified bone fragment.
E600
A test trench (ca. 4.0 m x 4.50 m x 0.28 m deep) was excavated on the south side of E100 (adjacent to the southeast corner of the room). No architecture was recovered, though a rise in the bedrock at this juncture would have exposed walls and surfaces to the plough zone. As in E400, the surface of the area was composed of loose rocky colluvium; the layers beneath were the same gravely phyllite silt layer that extends across the North Acropolis. The sherd material recovered from the trench was relatively abundant and included material from a wide range of dates from Late Minoan IIIC to Archaic and Hellenistic.
05-1085 (E0601.04) Terracotta spindle whorl. Max. H. 2.1; max. diam. 3.4; diam. of hole 0.6; Wt. 19 g. Flattened biconical. Medium-coarse pink clay (5YR 6/6) with phyllite and quartzite inclusions. Black slip preserved in parts. 

E500

A test trench, about 5 m square, was excavated on the 340 m contour on the west side of the peak of the North Acropolis northwest of the North Acropolis Building (342.04-343.13 MASL). The excavation exposed a well built wall (E503), preserved to two courses high and 2.30 m. in length, and appearing two separate the space into two rooms. The terrace is extremely eroded and nothing of the original surfaces or cultural deposition survives, thought the bedrock foundations of the wall appear to have been modified to accommodate the wall and an occupation surface. The wall has two faces, rests directly on bedrock, and abuts a rise in the bedrock on the south. A short (1.0 m) segment of a cross wall or spur wall on the north extends up to a bedrock outcrop on the east, which does appear to have been modified. Wall E503, the cross wall, and bedrock on the east and south seem to enclose a space, perhaps a very narrow and irregular closet. The space to the west of wall E503, extending out to the western edge of the terrace, might have been another room, though nothing of its floor or walls survive. The deposition across the trench consisted of a very loose brown gravelly soil, recent colluvium and slope wash lying directly on bedrock. Very little pottery was recovered (including Early Iron Age, Archaic, Hellenistic and modern) and there is no evidence of primary deposition.
The History and Function of the North Acropolis Building

The North Acropolis Building is a three-room house. Given the topography of the slope on the north and east (cliff terrain), and the absence of evidence for constructions in the test trench in A600, it is possible that the building stood alone on the eastern terrace, at least with no immediately contiguous constructions. The North Acropolis has however been extensively transformed by agricultural and pastoral activity in recent times, exacerbating the erosion and decomposition of buildings. The terrain and sediments are extremely eroded and the terraces have been deep ploughed. Although evidence from the test trenches in A400 and A500 were inconclusive, it is likely that the peak, saddle, and west slope of accommodated other buildings now no longer extant. The building was destroyed by fire, along with the rest of the excavated area of the site in the early 5th century B.C. Evidence of destruction is most visible in E100 and E300, where burned sediments, floors and artifacts were most obvious and extensive. 
     Extant walls and floors were constructed directly on the bedrock, which had been modified to shape foundations and socles, and shaved level to form floor surfaces and post supports. Floors, like elsewhere on the site, were no doubt continuously reused, swept, and maintained throughout the life of the building. Although there is no firmly-established terminus post quem for the original foundation of the building, the persistent presence of Early Iron Age-O pottery in samples derived from across the terrace suggests that the area had a long and perhaps continuous history of use. The North Acropolis Building is of some importance as it represents evidence for occupation in the northernmost reaches of the site, and it is the only example of a house, so far excavated, situated away from the area of the civic buildings on the South Acropolis. Although we cannot pinpoint a date of construction, the pattern of building and use is consistent with that of the buildings of the South Acropolis. The evidence clearly points to an Archaic foundation date subsequent to a period of Early Iron Age occupation.
     E100 is a kitchen, entered through the southeast corner of the room from an open courtyard. In the southern edge of the courtyard, in front of the doorway is an outcrop of breccia and schist, leveled with paving stones. The bedrock slopes down and away from the threshold, no doubt keeping rain water from entering through the doorway. A small dump of animal bone debris was found at the base of the bedrock outcrop north of the doorway. The paved area on the interior of the room, just inside of the doorway, was probably constructed to maintain a dry footpath. The features—the hearth and work platform—and artifact assemblages are consistent with food processing functions.  The open stone lined hearth is suitable for both pot boiling and pit roasting, while the small bin could function as a brace for a pot, perhaps a warming stand. The work platform could have supported a vessel or even a quern.
     The four querns in the room are very different sizes and shapes, suggesting different kinds of activities—different raw materials, processes and/or stages of plant food production. While the large saddle quern in the southwest corner is suitable for heavy palindromic grinding of grains or pulses to produce fine flour, the smaller flat querns and mortar quern were clearly used for small amounts of material requiring both pounding and lighter grinding. The full range of foods that could have been prepared with these smaller querns (pulses, nuts, fruit and grains) is likely to have been extensive, the size of the querns as well as the pattern of use of the associated small stone tools found in the room suggests the final preparation—grinding, splitting, and breaking of whole cleaned grains and pulses—probably for various stews and boiled dishes.
     The other artifacts in the room, such as the grater and shell scoop, are appropriate to kitchen contexts. And the iron hoe could have been stored in the space or brought in for cleaning or sharpening, given two whetstones, and the large number of pumice cobbles found throughout the habitation material. Though terracotta loom weights and spindle whorls were recovered from the floor deposit, they were not found in sufficient numbers to indicate decisively the presence or use of a loom in the room.

  Room E200 is harder to interpret as there are no built features or distinctive assemblages that should help us to determine function. The flat schist stones positioned near the north, south and west walls are consistent with the placing of pithos or other pot stands; and the spindle whorl, loom weight, and bone bead are objects that commonly appear in a variety of contexts. The assemblage associated with cutting and scraping however—whetstone, iron knife, stone scraper/burnisher and notched scraper—mirror the range of objects in A400 in the Northeast building. The cutting and scraping implements, while potentially useful for a variety of activities, could indicate the routine working, repairing, or finishing of soft materials, perhaps textiles or leather. The variety of functions suggested by the range of objects in the room, combined with lack of specific features, implies a general living area. 
     Room A300 like A200 is devoid of distinctive features, though the intensity of burning and the presence of pithos scatters across the northern and central area of the room suggest a storage function. While no pithos stands were recovered, it is possible that the exposed schist bedrock floor could have accommodated the pithoi without the use of stands. 
     Though we cannot be certain of the communication patterns between the rooms of the North Acropolis Building, a likely reconstruction of the space is possible. E100 is evidently the kitchen, communicating directly with the exterior space of the courtyard, and while there are no deposits outside the house that could indicate for certain the use of this area, it is possible that the space could have been used for a variety of domestic activities, probably associated with food processing. The courtyard evidently mediated communication between the kitchen and E200 which was probably a general living area, or the main hall of the house. E300 was the principal storage room, and though we cannot reconstruct a doorway between E300 and E200, the direct communication between the hall and storeroom is the case in the Northeast Building, the Northwest building, and rooms D1200 and D1300 of the North Buildings.
